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A Thousand Troops 
Threaten Stillwater 

by Berlin B. Chapman 

We va<·a1ed the place. They [1lw troop~) cut off our ~upplies and ~lan•etl 
us our,•an,I we came home.-William L. Couch, June 6, 1885. 

WE have noted that in the closing days of December 1884, 
ahout 225 armed settlers al Sti11water refused to suri·ender to 

the cava I ry u11it under Lieult•tHllll M. W. Duy and subsequently 
telegraphed President Arthur a11d petitioned Congrnss in an effort 
to resist removal. It has also heen explained that on January 7, 
1885, rei11forceme11ts under the command of Colonel Edward 
Hatch left Caldwell for Camp Russe11 in the Stillwater vicinity. 

Rain, snow and cold weather impeded progress of Hatch's 
troops 011 their southern march. Hatch wrote: "On the 12th 
arriving myself with a small escort on the Salt Fork of the 
Arkansas River, succeeded in crossing the next morning, in some 
places swimming the animals of the escort. That night, the 
weather again turned cold. The troops arrived at the river, and 
were oc<"11pied on the 15th in making.an ice bridge that would 
carry safely the wagon train, created by reliefs of men working 
steadily, twenty four hours with huckets, camp kettles, cooking 
utensils throwing water on tlw roadway selected, until.a sufficient 
thickness of ice was made to hear the command."' 

Hatch had orders to remove the intruders from Indian 
Territory without violence, if possible. He thought Couch would 
resist arrest and that a collision would result. Couch was repre­
sented to high military authorities as a fanatic who believed him-

The article "A Thousand Troops Threaten Stillwater'' is reprinted 
here by permission of the author and Oklahoma State University. It 
is the second chapter of a book, The Founding of Stillwater, written 
by Dr. Chapman. The book is copyrighted 1948 by the Research 
Foundation, Oklahoma Agricultural and Mechanical College. 
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self in the right and who was willing to risk a collision, as likely 
to invite public sympathy and compel favorable Congressional 
action. Settlers were quoted as saying that some ntembers of 
Congress advised them to resist removal.!? 

When Hatch resumed his march from the south bank of 
the Salt Fork of the Arkansas, it was estimated that he would 
have 350 cavalrymen to effect the removal of settlers. Hatch 
wrote: "Captain [Francis] Moore placed in command of the three 
troops, was ordered to proceed to the armed colony on Stillwater 
Creek, to take a position to the 110rth and east of the same, cut off 
supplies and parties going to the colony, and awaiting arrival 
with the troops from Camp Husscll uncl Fort Reno." On Januury 
17, about the time Hatch arrived at Camp Russell, he made this 
report: .. Strength of lloomers increasing. Count l,y Sergeant 
on 15th, 375. No question they will fight." 3 

Troop I of the Ninth Cavalry was at once moved from Camp 
Russell to camp near the Boomer colony with orders to intercept 
parties and supplies. Troops at Fort Reno under command of 
Major Dewees were delayed by a severe snow storm and did not 
leave for Stillwater until January 18.4 On January 19 General 
C. C. Augur at Fort Leavenworth sent a telegram to the Adjutant 
General of the Army in which he referred to the fact that Hatch 
anticipated a fight. Augur said: "Should he be right, and they 
fire upon the troops, it is understood they are to lie treated as 
public enemies, and to he captured or killed. There should be 
no misunderstanding as to what the orders are 011 that point. 
Should like an answer as soon as convenient. Have put all 
troops at Reno under Hatch 's orders."~' 

The numLer of settlt>J·s by January 19 had i1wrt>ased to four 
hundred men, and "one wo111u11 who had charge of the haking."0 

On that day Ca plain Moore i11t1•n·cpled a parly 1·0111i11~ lo Stillwalt)r 

I Hatl'h In Atljutunt Grnrral, Orpnrtnwnl nf ti,.- l\li~~nuri, Frh. 7, 1885, NA, 
St illwntcr Coll .. ,·1 ion; ul~o in A pprndix A. 

~ Brirf nf pn1wr~, for. rit., pp. 7-ll. Hnlwrt T. Linroln, SN\ War, to Sec. 
Interior, Jan. 17, l!lR5, lflar Office Leu,., Rook, vnl. 109, p. 86. 

:i Report of Jan. 17, 1885, Stillwall"r Collt·ction. Cl. 483 Div. :\lo. 1885. 
4 W.-st nf the pn,s.-111 ~ite of Stillwater th.- first important norlh and south 

trail ran from Cal<lwdl to Ft . Reno. S,·,· .1/ap ·o/ Territor_v -of l!11i1,·,/ St11tes West of 
the MississiJJJ•i Ri1,er prepared l,y Chid of [ngine.-rs, lj. S. Army, JRT.\:i, a copy of 
which bin GLO \C .. n.-ral Lan<l Offi.-.· t, Div. E. 

5 Tel. ,,£ Jim. 19, 1885, Still"akr ( '.oll.-ction. 
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from Coffeyville, Kuusus. Tiu· leaders ut Stillwater claimed there 
were four hundred in tht~ purly. but llutt·h esti111111l'd the 1111111l1cr 
at about two hundred. He said: "These re-i11fon:e111ents became 
so alunued thut they hastily 111ove<l Lack crossing tlie Arkansas 
River, with scarcely a halt." Hatch also said: "'Instructions 
from the General Commanding the Dept. impressing upon rne the 
importance of removing these intruders without resorting lo 
measures that might result in loss of life decided ·111e to employ, 
apart from his instructions to 1·ut off all supplies arnl re-inforce­
ments, other agencies that might suggest themselves." 

Hatch prepared a paper; of two paragraphs wi1id1 Sergeant 
Wilson circulated through the rnlony one evening, on January 19 
or 20, leaving copies at many of the huts. Accor<l111~ to Hatch, 
circulation of the paper resulted in loss of a large number from 
the colony. The paper said in part: 

It is within the knowledge of the officer in command 
that some hundreds of men have banded together to resist 
with arms the execution of the law in avowed insurrection 
against the government. It is devoutly to be hoped that any 
unlawful action on your part leading to the sacrifice of hu­
man life may be avoided. It must be clearly understood, 
that the killing of any soldier obeying orders in the execution 
of his duty by men armed to resist the law, is simply murder, 
and that they will sooner or later be tried for_ the same as 
principals or accessories. None will regret more deeply 
such a result than the commanding officer and the officers 
serving under him. 

The responsibility must rest entirely with yourselves. 
It is with regret the commanding officer learns that men who 
served their country faithfully during some of the best years 
of their lives to sustain the laws of the government are now 
openly leagued with insurgents against the flag they served 
so well. It ill becomes them as old soldiers of the Union and 
upon reflection they must acknowledge their error to you as 
to all citizens. Legislation is open to settle any grievance; 
there is no necessity to reso11 t~. arms._ Should the collision 

O Hsieh to Adj. Gen., DeJJI. uf lht' ~tu., }'eb. 7, 1885, Loe. cit. 
7 The paper of Jan. 19 ur 20, 1885, is in lhe Stillwater Collection . The Oklahoma 

Chief printed lhis paper on Feb. 3, 18!15, and slated that it was "'distributed" on 
Jan. 20. The Oklahoma Chief had rect"ntly 1mrchased the Oklahoma War-Chief. 
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occur to which it is the intention of your leaders to compel 
you, the military will not be responsible for loss of life or 
stock, from roving bands of Indians who will seize the oppor­
tunity to inflict injury.,; All trouble can easily be avoided by 
observing the proclamation of the president of the United 
States, and peaceably leaving the territory as directed. 

R. C. Drum, Adjutant General of the Army, sent Augur the 
following telegram on January 20: "In accordance with in­
structions from the Secretary of \Var the Lieutenant General 
[Sheridan] directs you to be informed that the President's order 
for the removal from the Indian Territory of the intruders therein 
is to be enforced. It is hoped that it may be done without an 
armed conflict; but the responsil1ility for any blood::;hed must rest 
upon those who do not accept the warning of the Proclamation of 
the President of July 1, 1884 and attempt with arms to resist the 
troops ordered to compel their removal. In order that the mis­
chievous influence of the leaders of the present invasion to incite 
a conflict may be reduced as much as possible, the military force 
should Le increased so that a 11 intruders may see the hopeless­
ness of resistance. 

"The Lieutenant Genera I therefore directs that you will 
immediately reinforce Colonel Hatch Ly the remaining companies 
of the Ninth Cavalry, and also :,;end him reinforcements from the 
tenth, twentieth and twenty-second regiments of Infantry, until 
tlae force he now has in hand shall Le increased by eight hundred 
( 800) additional men."" 

On January 20 Augur transmitted the telegram to Hatch, 
and telegraphed to him the following communi1:at ion: "You 
should read this to the intrn<lt•r~ and direct their su rrcnder. If 
they refuse, you need not pro1·t·e<l to extn:mities 1111til your re­
e11forcements arrive; but you should cut off all supplies as far 

s " R. c:• reporting from ~tillwalt'r. January 20. to The 01.-lahoma Cl1iei said: 
" . .\s to the G,·rwrar, caution in rt·gard to tht' Indian;, we ha,·,. no fears ,,£ their 
di , turhing 11:;. It mav be po,-,ible that the Gen. has adopted Ben '.\liller·,; plan lo 
di,gui ,e cow Loy~ a, Indian,; and have the:m make a raid upnn 11,; for the purpose nf 
stealin" our ,tock and di,ablinu us in thar wav." The Oklahoma Chiej, Feb. 3, 
188.';. Boomt'r~ c;,nsisl<'ntly- calle~l Colond Hatch ~ "G,·nera1.·· 

IIT .. I. u( Jun. 20, 188:., AGO (Atli11ta11t Gcnt•rnl's Office), Le11,·r /look, ml. 74. 
p. 157. The tdegra111 as prinlt•J in Brid uf papt-rs, S. Ex. Docs., lo, ·. rit., incnrrt·ct1y 
gives the number of aJ,litionul nwn as :~oO. 
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as possible und prevent others from joining them, hy sending out 
011 the muds lo turn back all 11ew comers. The additional troops 
will be se11t you viu Culdwell as quickly us possibk Meanwhile 
should uuy of the intruders desi rn to come in you shou Id receivt' 
them and send them out of the country, except such as are rec­
ognized as the lea'ders. These are to be held until they can he 
turned over lo civil authority .... Give all possible i1_1formatio11 for 
benefit of troops coming. Send guide to Caldwell to conduct 
them with full instructions where to go. Hurry back to Caldwell 
all teams that can he spared." 111 

On January 20, 1885, Se11alor Plumb introdul'cd a resolu­
tion in the Senate requesting the President to advist• that liody as 
to the status of the Oklahoma Lauds as viewed 1,y tlw Executive, 
the action taken, if any, to expt'I persons seeking to st•tl le thereon, 
and the reason for the sume.11 

Major Dewees reached Camp Russell on January 20 with 
Troops G and C of the Ninth Cavalry, and Company D of the 
Twentieth Infantry, which were at once moved to Stillwa~r Creek. 
Hatch said:. "The movement of all troops was unavoidably slow, 
heavy snow drifts to cut, streams bridged, am) owing to the ice, 
all wagons lowered down the crossings of streams and rocky 

· canons [ sic 1 hy cable and hauled out py men. The character of 
the country is i,;uch, streams and canons have abrupt high banks, 
and so frozen and covered with ice, it was necessalf sometimes to 
assist the animals out. All this time the weather was intensely 
cold." 

The determination of the settlers to resist remov;l was de­
i-t ribed lty Hatch as follows: "On the 20th Sergeant Wilson in­
formed me <;011eh and party were throwing up rifle pits, no easy 
matter in frozen ground, and also notifying me that they would 
fight." In regard to the intrenchments, Couch said: "We had 
lieen assaulted by an unauthorized party. I claim the right to 
defend myself against any person who is not backed with a legal 
process. I claim the right to defend my life and my property 
against anyone who comes without a legal process. I deny that 
Lhe military process is legal. ... J consider that the courts are the 
proper places to seltle a point of law. We had endeavored to get 

Jo Td., Augur to Hatch, Jan. 20, 1885, 843 Div. Mo. 188S. 
11 The resolution is in Cong. Record, 48 Cong. 2 sess., p. 848. 
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a d1•cisio11, 1111tl we had been trifled with liy hoth the Army and 
the courts. Th<' man who came lo arre!'.l me, 12 came with the 
i;ame pupt~rs lw had arrested me 011 before. He ordered me to 
surrender and I asked him what authority he had; and he said 
the military authority. J asked him if he had a different authority 
from that he had before, and he sil id it was the same. I said I 
had stood my trial hefore the court after the arrest, and the court 
decided I had committed no criminal offense and I denied hjs 
right, and if he had no legal process I declined to submit. ... I 
did not want to do anything, hut if I had been assaulted I would 
l,ave returned the fire, and abided the result."13 

The Oklahoma Boomer on January 21 said: "The colonists 
have a line of rifle pit!'! located for defensive purposes, about 
sixty days rations for men and animals, plenty of ammunition and 
ure well armed, and will not he arrested again by Military author• 
ity, without it is used as an aid to the civil law in support of a 
lnwful process. One marshall can take them out, hut only suffi. 
cient troops to overcome them, can again take the hoomers out of 
the promised land. 

"Large numhcrs are constantly coming in, and from cor­
re!-!pomlencc w,· estimate that upwn rd~ of u thommnd men will he 
there hy the first of the month." 

On the su111e day General C. C. Augur hy telegram requested 
that certain property be sent to Caldwell, Kansas, "to supply the 
P.00 additional troops to be ord,~rcd to Colonel Hutch's command 
in Oklahoma."u The property consisted of 800 fur caps or 
canvas hoods; 800 fur gauntlets or woolen mittens ( fur gauntlets 
greatly preferred) ; 600 arctic overshoes; 75 Sililey stoves; 400 
joints Sibley .. stovepipe"; 50 conical wall tents, complete with 
poles, tripods and pins; 4 hospital tents with poles and pins. 
Immediately the clothing was "ordered all right." 

It was also on January 21 that Couch, "President of Payne's 
Oklahoma Colony," replied to '"Maj. Gen Edward Hatch," relative 
to the paper circulated in the colony on the evening of January 19 
or 20. 1

~' The body of Couch's letter is as follows: 

12 Thi~ rcfrrrn,·<' may Ji,. lo Lif'11I. Day's nllt>mpt to arrr.~t Conch on Ot>r.emhf'r 
21, 1RR1, nr to u 1111...- ,,vi•nl. 

1:1 Tl'Atlmony of Cnnrh. Jnnf' 6, IRH!i, S. H~1mr1.,, 1W Con11. I Mf'RA., ill 12:163), 
11ll. 127H, pl. 2, pp . 1!iR-451), · 

H Tel., Augur to Adj. Gen., Div. nf the ~lo., Jan. 21, 1!185, :,)5 Div. Mo. 1885; 
tt>I., C. B. Schofield to Augur, Jan. 22, 1885, ibid. 

1~ Couch's li,ller of Jan. 21, ]88S, is in The Oklahoma Chief, Ft'I>. 3. 1885. 
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Your communication addressed "To Whom it may con­
cern" is received, in which you !>late that you "are in com­
mand of a large force, with instructions to see that the 
proclamation of the President and the laws are observed in 
the Indian Territory, of Oklahoma, for the ejectment of per­
sons who are 110w there. without authority." Being a party 
concerned, we desire to call your attention to . the fact we 
huve previously and upon 1w\'ernl different rnTa-.ion-. been 
anested Ly military force and ejected from the Oklahoma 
country, charged with violating the law upon . which the 
President's proclamation was issued. We have heen ar­
.raigned and tried in the United States. Court, District of 
Kansas, and Judge Foster decided that we "commit no offense 
in settling on the Oklahoma lands." 

This decision was based upon the grounds that the title 
to these lands was in the United States Government. We 
therefore deny your right to again eject us by military force. 

You also state that ''•it is within your knowledge that 
hundreds of men have Landed together to resist with anus 
the execution of the law, in avowed insurrection against the 
government." 

This charge we positively deny. 

We are here as good law-abiding citizens and we claim 
the right under law. In proof of our claim we quote you 
Section 2257 Revised Statutes of the United States: "Heads 
of families, widows or sia"gle persons twenty-one years of 
age or over who are citizens of the United States, or have 
declared their intention to become citizens as required by 
the naturalization laws may make claim by pre-emption to 
the extent of one quarter section, or 160 acres, of offered or 
unoffered lands, or any of the unsurveyed lands belonging 
to the United States to which the Indian title is extinguished." 

If the question of title of Oklahoma is disputed, we re­
fer you to the treaties of 1886 [1866] between the Creek 
and Seminole Indians; and the United States government, 
wherein the Indians have sold and -conveyed to the United 
States all their right and title to that portion of the Territory 
known as Oklahoma. 

With reference to any unlawful action on our part lead-
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ing to the sacrifice of human life, we desire to say that you 
need have no fear; that we will harm no one unless driven to 
do so in defense of our own lives and property, which we 
claim the right to do under the constitution [and] laws of 
our country. 

We are not in rebellion against the laws of our country. 
We have raised no insurrection, and it must be distinctly 
understood that if a drop of blood is spilled, it will be at 
your hands. 

You should also remember that "no one is so exalted as 
to be above the law" not even the President of the United 
States. 

You state that to all persons, legislation is open lo settle 
all grievances. We would state, also, that the courts are 
open for the same purpose, and that we are within the juris­
diction of those courts; that if we have violated the law, we 
can be taken before the comt of civil process without your 
assistance. In reference to the statement that it is the inten­
tion of the leaders of the colony to force the members into 
a collision with the troops, we simply say that it is false. 

Referring to that portion threatening us with Indians, 
etc., we must say that we cannot believe that it was intended 
for us. It must have lieen intende<l for some eastern paper. 
calculated to create a sensation. It might take well if pub­
lished in the New England States, but in the west where 
every one knows that there are no roving bands of hostile 
Indians in this country, it will hardly answer the purpose. 
We are abundantly able to protect ourselves against any such. 

In conclusion, we agree with you that there need be no 
difficulty and if you ohserve the law as closely as we do, 
there will Le none. 

If Couch's quotation of Section 2257 of the Revised Statutes, 
given above, had been a correct one, the Oklahoma Lands would 
not have Leen subject to homestead settlement because the Indian 
title thereto had not lieen extinguished. An examination of the 
section shows that the right of pre-emption extended only to lands 
on which the Indian title was extinguished.16 The pre-emption 

rn The pre-emption law~, ini-lucling S,·ction :!:!:,7, are in R,·vis,•,l S1111111, ·., af the 
l 111ited States, 1878, pp. 414-·ll'J. · 
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laws also show that further governmental action was ahsolutely 
necessary for opening the lands to homestead settlement. 

On January 22 the Senate a<lopleJ Pluml,'s resolution rela­
tive to the Oldahoma Lands anJ the removal of persons seeking 
to settle there.17 On that day Hatch reported his strength as 380 
enlisted men and sixteen officers, 1wl yet all arrived. He said 
the number of Boomers remained at 375 me~ "all armed. 
Smaller camp 27 men, 18 miles distant. They declare they will 
resist anest, but will probably think differently when supplies 
are cut off and disposition of troops made closing them in. With 
other influences now at work will not ask for [FortJ Riley troops 
unless it should become ncctissary and can't tell until tl1t• move­
ment is commenced." 111 

In order to learn the condition of the settlers for resistance, 
Hatch said that he "rode over on the 23rd alone, quite sme I was 
unknown to any of them, and thoroughly examined the settle­
ment. The rifle pits would contain fifty men. The dugoub were 
so arranged, they were capable of being used for this purpose 
also."111 

Hatch telegraphed General Augur that Couch "has nolifietl 
me today that he will fight."w Hatd1 said that the stn•n~th of 
the Boorners had increased to four hundred men, and addt•d: "It 
is perhaps well to send the relay [Hiley] troops to Caldwell or 
Arkansas City. Our troops are moving into position lo 1111 off 
:supplies and slop new arrivals. A section of light g1111s sent 
down to Arkansas City might have good effect." 

Hatch said that on January 2-1- "Lieut . . [F. W.] Fi~ley 
visited the colony, read to them the instructions21 of the _General 
of the Armv. The answer made to him by their leader, Couch, 
was, that.he had it from the newspapers some two days before, 
and that he declined to leave, neither would he do so, as long as 
he could rrsist with arms." Hat<·h also said: "On the evening 
of the 24th. tlie entire command was up and in camp, about 400 
yards from the colony. After deducting force left at Camp 

17 <:011g. lfrcord, 48 Cong. 2 st•ss., pp. 916 : ')21. 
111 NA, St illwulrr Collt•cl ion. 
111 Hatch to AJj. Gen., Dept. of !he !\lo., 1:,.11. 7, 1885, Appendix A. . 
~~• I-latch's telegram, as Augur transmilletl it 1111 Jan. 23, 1885, In th,· .-\.!J11lunt 

General, Div, l\fo., is in 561 Div. Mo. 1885. 

:?l The inslriu·tinn~ npparl'ntly consi~h•il of Drum's telf'gram of Jan. 20, )RR!i, 
qnotl'tl ahov,•. 
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Russell, and other detachments watching roads, and patrolling, 
we had a f<'w men over 300 for action."22 

The proximity of troops caused increased tension in the 
colo11y so that Couch was up a II night ''.belaboring the quick 
tempered fac-tion of the Boomers ·• not to begin firing before the 
troops the111st'lvcs fired.~'' There was the usua1 faction of hot­
heads who desired more than anything e1se to fire on the troops 
and therel,y !,rin~ the matter to an immediate conclusion. Couch 
insisted that tlic Boomers should not fire unless fired upon. 

P<•rhaps the l1f'st 1wco1111t of c•vent,1 preccdin~ the ,111rrender 
of Couch 1111 Monday. January 1h. 18B5. Wll!I written hy Hatch 
in hi:,1 olTit·i11I rc•porl 011 Fc•l1r11nr~· 7: 

Tiu• 2Sth was spent in \\·orkin~ upon the fears of the 
timid, tliough one of the citizen teamsters learned there were 
but two days rations in the Boomer Camp, and that they were 
anxiously looking for one hundred men from Kansas by way 
of Hunnewell, also that our force was exaggerated to 600 
by themselves.21 It was also discovered during the night 
there was dissension among the leaders, as to the best 
course lo pursue. This with the fact that we should be out 
of forage and rations in two days, not being assured 
that the rations on the way would reach me, promptly de­
c~ded to move l,oldly upon them in the morning, trusting the 
result would he favorable. The usual orders were issued 
for going into action, care heing observed that the order 
should reach their camp that night. This with a note by a 
friendly party to the only woman begging her to leave early 
in the morning. 

lu the morning the command formed for moving. The 
company of Infantry to seize a hill covering the rifle pits and 
tlefensihle dugouts. Major Dewees with four troops dis­
mounted to move directly upon the headquarters of the 
leaders. 

~~ llntf'l, ,,. \di . c:,•n., O,·pt. of th,· '.\In .• F,·h. 7, 1RR5. Apprndix A. 
~:1 Th,· 1·11111,·111• of this p11rn11rnph 1H1· from un i111<•rvi<•w uf th1• author with 

E11i:1•n1• Cn11d1 \\ho os n hoy lu•onl hi• fntlll'r, \V. L. C1111t'h, norrnll' the cvl'nl•: 
anti from th,· 11i:1111isrript, "On,· Pinrwcr Fn111ily : William I.. an,I Cynlhia E. Courh." 

~, In n ~,,.., ·,·h nt Tnp,·kn, K:rnsn•. on F,·hrunry :I, !RR:;, Courh •aill thal "Halch 
opprarrtl with 600 mrn. Fi,•e soltlirr• hat! l11•1•n ,1,•tailetl'to kl'l'p a corrl'ct count of 
1111r fur, ·,·•• hut 1!11· .,.i-,wnnt fl'Jlnrtr,I twi, ·,· th,· 11rt11ol numhrr." Sri• 1•xtrnrt from 
~p•·•·•·h, Ap1w11di, A. 
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Captain Moore, with three troops dismounted on Dewees' 
left, and should we Le compelled to fight to take their camp 
in reverse. I then with my adjutant rode into their camp, 
telling them as much as we regretted bloodshed, we should 
open fire at the first effort at armed resistance. Couch, at 
first refused to go,. then asked for time which was declined. 
Finding the troops would be upon him in a moment more, 
gave up further opposition, and would do as dii·ected. 

Hatch on January 26 sent Augur a telegram saying in p~rt: 
"The Boomer colony has come to terms. Will leav.e the country 
for the neurest point on th~ Kansas line."2

;, Couch said: "We 
found our rations would last Lut five days and we could not 
make a stand, so we concluded to vacate in two days, bt1t not in 
obedience to any time set by Hatch, and we moved out without 
escort.mu It is probable that Hatch intended to keep the in­
truders out of riJle range and force them to surrender liy training 
his artillery on their camp, if he were compelled to resort to 
such extreme measures. 27 

Before Couch on January 26 gave up further opposition, 
Hatcl1 had called for additional troops. On that day five troops 

2:, There is convincing cvid<·nce that th.- surrend~r ot·curred January 26, 1885, 
although some official copies of the telegram art• dated January 27. Robert T. Lincoln, 
Secret11ry of War, quoted the telegram, giving the date as January 27. Lincoln lo 
:;cc. Interior, Jan. 29, 1885, NA, War OOice Letter Book, vol. 109, p. 144. Augur 
referred to Hatch's "brief telegram of J11n. 26th announcing the surr,•1ul t•r of the 
intruders." Augur to Adj. Gen. of the Army, }'eb. 3, 1885, 735 AGO IB85. Augur 
apparently received the telegram January 27. 639 Div. Mo. 1885. 

:!ll Speech of Feb. 3, 1885. loc. cit. 
:!i Rister, Loe. cit., p. 191. Couch said that on the morning he surrendt"rccl "forct's 

under Hatch were formed in line with two pieces of artillery." Speech of Feb. 3, 
·1sss, Loe. cit. It is said that the demand h> s11rrt'.11der was made "about ri1d11 o'clock." 
Oklahoma Boomer, Feb. 4, 1885. · 

J,'rom Stillwater, under dare of January 27, "R. C." sent a report to the editor 
· of The Oklahoma Chief saying in part: "An urrnngement was made with l:l"n. Hatch 

this morning by which we all go out to-morrow as citizens not as 11ri,1111ns. We 
claim to have accomplished all that we can for the cause and that we i1.1,,,. virtually 
op,·nctl Oklahom11." The Oklahoma Chic/, Fd,. 3, 1118.5. Hcf .. n,nce was matle to 
Arthur's having gone "into office by the hloocl of Garfield," and of his dl'lnmination 
.. to shielJ Teller in his crookedness, let it cosl what it may." The report also said: 
"Gen. Hatch has been fe11.sting all over the Tnritory. I learned from reliahl.- sources 
that he did not slay with his comm111ul """ night during his trip tluwn line but 
w11s the guest of the caltle kings every night." • 

Tlie Ol.·la/io11H1 Chief on Ft'.hr1111ry 3 anuuunc .. ,I a "glurions achi,·v,·111e111." It 
stalt'tl that the combined forces of the l 1nitcd S1111t:s Army umlt'.r tlu, imm,·• 
1li11tt'. c1111un1111d of llalch, "aflt'r a vigorous ,·ampaign of two wceks, hav,· surccedr.d 
in tlrivin" three hundred men, w11111en a111l chiltlrcn from tlu,ir honws 1111 1111, puLlic 
domain . •.. If this occurrence had happent'cl in Russia, under the urcln of tht' 
Czar himself, it would have been in accord with that form of government." 
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of the Ninth Cavalry were sent from Forts Hays, Reno, Riley 
and Sill to report to him. General Nelson A. Miles, Commander 
of llw ll1•parlnw11t of the M isso11ri, l'laicl rliat twrlvc• comp11nic\s 
of i11fa1,1rv from Forts Lyon. Union, Wingate, Gibson and Reno 
were din\ctcd to report lo llatch.~)I Before these companies 
reached their destination the Boomers had surrendered and the 
compa11i1•s were onlerccl to rt'l11rn from en route to their respective 
stations. Six troops of cavalry were retained in the field to 
guanl the country. 

011 the day Couch gave up further oppos1tton to Hatch's 
demands/1 H. M. Teller, Secretary of the Interior, prepared a 
letter in reply t_o the resolution passed Ly the Senate on January 
22. He explained that the United States had made treaties with 
Indians whereby the lands should he for the exclusive use of 
ln<li1.111s. hut he recommended that steps be taken at once to open 
the lands lo white scttlcmcnl. Teller said: "Contracts or treaties 
impossible of execution, unj11st and unfair to hoth whites and 
Indinns. ought to he abrogated or modified hy legislative action. 
It is not beneficial to the Indians to have millions of acres of 
valuable land remain unoccupied around them." Teller con­
cluded that until the existing status of the lands should be 
changed by agreements with the Indians interested, or in such 
other manner as might he determined upon by Congress, the 
integrity of treaties made with the Indians should bt- maintained, 
and that the power of the ~overnment, to the extent necessary, 
should. he exercised to keep intruders and all unauthorized per­
sons off the lands. President Arthur transmitted Teller's Jetter 
to the Senate on January 27, and endorsed the views it expressed.30 

On January 30, when the Stillwater settlers and the troops 
npproa1·l1Pd Arkunsa!! City, I latch wrote a lctter31 in which he 

2R !\Iii,·~ 10 Adj. G!'n., Div. of lhc l\fo., S!'pt. 12, 1885, H. Ex. Docs., 49 Cong. l 
sess., ii I 2:l61J) , p. ] 55. 

2n Tdl.-r to the· Presidl'nt, Jan. 26, lll85, NA, Tnt. Dept., Record of Letters Sent, · 
vol. 38, pp. 151-456. s .. e also Roher! T. Lincoln, Sec. of War, to the President, Jan. 
26, 1885, ~- Ex. Docs., 48 Cong. 2 ~Ps~ .• ii (2263), no. 50, pp. 2-3. 

ao Mc.ua{{es and Papers of the /'r,•.•idents, viii, pp. 266-268. 

St llnt.-11 to A,,lj. Grn., Dept. of l\111., Jun. 30, 18115, NA, Office of Indian Affair~. 
Special Case l ll, l,. 3851-1885. Hatd, 's lf'll'gram of Jan. 26 referred to the Boomers 
comin1t lo "lf'rms." Aftl'r A111t11r inquirrd what the tl'rms wcrf', Hatch wrote the 
lc·tter 0£ .Ian. 30. A111t11r to A,lj. Gen. 11£ 1hc Army, Ft•h: 3, 18RS, 843 Div. Mo. Jll8S. 
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reviewed recent events. He ~a id: 

Couch, the leader, surrendered in good faith. I learned 
he had rations only for two days. It was a question whether 
I should place them under guard. I could not ration them, 
or forage their animals-the leaders were well supplied with 
money and could purchase forage and rations at_ the agencies. 
If the leaders were placed under guard, we were forced to 
ration a mob and furnish transportation for their personal 
property, the leaders and prominent men owning the wagons 
and trains. · 

Though Couch and his colony were considered p1}soners 
it was concluded better that they should retain their organiza­
tion in moving them. Couch agreed to be responsible for the 
conduct of his men, to call in all parties, to furnish rations, 
forage and wagons to move the personal effects of those who 
had · neither rations nor transportation. The leaders do not 
wish to avoid being turned over to civil authorities, except 
Couch who declares he will never return with a party, and 
dislikes a trial. 

Couch has carried out promptly all orders to him­
marching properly; gathering up all supplies and wagons 
known to be coming to him. I camped with him_ on his first 
and second night, leaving his camp yesterday morning with 
the intention of turning him and the principals O'!er to a U.S. 
Marshal--could not obtain any to take them, therefore con­
cluded to escort them over the border until we could have the 
proper warra"nts served. Since then the commissioner, Mr. 
She [a] rman, at Wichita has notified me the warrants have 
been sent to Deputy U. S. Marshal, at Arkansas City, and the 
leaders will be, or are already in the marshal's hands.32 

I am forced to acknowledge that after Couch surren­
dered, he acted fairly, and has really been of assistance in 
moving these men and has called in parties who might have 
escaped the notice of the troops. 

32 Couch gave a bond of Sl,000 for his appearance before Commissioner J. F. 
Shearman on February 10, 1885. Commissioner's Proceeding No. 300 in the U. S. 
District Court, office of the Clerk, District of Kansas, Wichita. 
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Had the troops with me arrived a few days later the 
settlement of the matter might have been delayed. They 
came up in time to prevent junction of reinforcements from 
different points and the arrival of supplies to provision them 
for a month. 

Making a liberal deduction from the numbers claimed 
to he nn their way the al'cession could not fall short of four 
hundred armed men.:i:i 

As we have always l,een compelled to return the arms 
and property taken, I cou Id see no object in keeping them. 
TJ;ey were packed and placed in their wagons and not carried 
by them on their way out. 

The hoomers will go over the state line today in a body 
with :,ixty-five wagons. 

Couch said: "At Arkansas City we were met hy an immense 
com·o111·s1• of people with a l,rass hand. Our colors were flying 
,lurinF; 011r trip, and during our stay, an evidence of our loyalty 
to the United States government." a4 

Fmnk Leslie's lllustrnt<'d Newspaper, published in New 
York, Fc·bruary 7, 1885, announced Couch's removal as follows: 
"The Oklahoma S(JUatters and tramps who, under the name of 
'lioonwrs.' 'settlers,' 'patriot:-.' etc., have for years invaded the 
lndia11 lands of l111li11n T1•rri1my, hnvc nt Inst surrendered to 
Gt!ncra I I latd1 with a detacl111wnt of soldiers. The Government 
luts lwc·11 put in II rntht'I' l1t11niliuti11~ nllit11dl' l,y the• whole prn• 
ccccling. It ou~ht l011~ 11~0 lo hnve driven out these impll(lent 
inv11d1•rs at th<• point of tlH' bayonet, and kept them out. The 
toleralion shown to Payne and Couch has he~n wholly inexcusable. 
The Govnnment might as well have tolerated the cowboys and 
road-ag<·nts who hide on the <'Cntral plains to attack express cars 
and rob helpless travelers. lt has heen a wanton defiance of law 

aa Sinci· Conch encl his party wcrl' nor nnder nrmf'd gnard, Hatch was enabled 
to Sf'ncl l\laj11r Dcwef's to the •1111:h sitli· of thf' Cimarron, and dispatch a force toward 
the Arkansas Rivl'r to prevent the arrival of a lar(Zl' nnmhn of intruders who were 
rf'ported r11111inJ! from Arkansas hy way of the Sac- aml Fox Agency, ancl also to send 
a troop to i1111•rcf'pt men comin:i; from llnnnewell, Kansas. Tel., Hatch to Adj. Gen., 
Dept. of Mn .. Jan. 30, 188!>, 733 Div. Mn. IMS; snmt' to ~ame, Feb. 7, 1R8S, Appendix 
A. The Snr uncl Fox A(Zf'ncy was on 1hr llcf'p Fork of the Canadian, sonth of the 
present sir, · of Strond. . 

llarch 1,·fl the HonmPfs at Pon,·n A11:<'ncy on · Jannary 30 and Wf'nt to 
Hunnewell. Hutch to A111t11r, Jan. 31. 188!>, 7.33 Div. l\fo. 1885. 

8~ Spet'<'h of ft'h. 3, 1885, loc. cit. 
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all through, not at all calculated to reassure the hardy settlers 
who haw pre-empted their homes where they had a right to. Now 
let the Indian Territory be protected." 

The Army proposed to keep Stillwater a deserted village. 
Boomers returned from Stillwater had not been in Kansas a week 
until Hatch called attention to an invasion of Indian Territory 
which, heginning March 1, would "be hy thousands and in the 
most persistent manner." He noted that the sentiment of all the 
horder State:,; Ln ored forcing "this country open to :,;ettlement by 
armed occupation." In order to an,i<l a coilision, Hatch outlined 
a military plan. part of "hich }H'oYided that '·a Battalion of 
CaYalry of four troop:,; he camped near the point known .. ~s 
Stillwater," and that a like force he ,;tationed at Camp Russell.~·• 

On January 30, the day the Boomers reached Arkansas City, 
Chauncey l\kK~eYer, Assistant Adjutant General, directed that 
such of the leaders of the intruders as had incurred the penalty 
proYided by Section 2148 of the Revised Statutes be turned over 
to the proper civil authorities 1or trial.::1; The reader "·ill recall 
that Judge C. G. Foster had considered this section when he ren­
dered his decision under date of December 11, 1884, in the case 
of the l;nited States -v. Payne et al. On February 16, 1885, Hatch 
was anticipating additional arrests and a trial.~; He said that 
a "vigorous prosecution of these men" would have an excellent 
effect on the others.::s 

The United States marshals were instructed to bring Couch 
and fourteen other leaders before the United States Commissioner 
at Wichita on :Mai·ch 5 for a hearing on the charge that they had 
incited, set on foot or assisted in a rebellion or insurrection 
against the authority of the United States.::u Couch et al. were 
brought before Commissioner J. F. Shearman at Wichita, and 
were again within the jurisdiction of Judge Foster's court. On 
March 9 Hatch reported that the accused would be held under 
$3,000 "bonds in each case." Couch and the other leaders secured 

3~ Hatch to Adj. Ge!!., Div. of the Mo., Feb. 4, 181:l5, 913 Div. '.\Io. 1885. 
3G Tel., ;\IcKeever to Augur, Jan. 30, 1885, 747 Div. J\Io. 1885. Cf. p. 4 above. 
3, Hatch to Adj. Gen., Dept. of the J\fo., Feb. 16, 1885, 1151 Div. Mo. 1885. 
38 Same to same, March 4, 1885, 1469 Div. 1\10. 1885. 
3!1 See Section 5334, Revised Statutes, 1878, p. 1036. W. C. Endicott, Sec. War, 

to Sec. Interior, '.\larch Ii", 1885, N.A, .'Tar Office Letter Book, vol. llO, p. 388. 
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bail.40 

The role of the cattlemen, whether or not exaggerated, re­
mained in the background. On February 26 the Wichita Beacon 
carried an article Lased on an interview with Couch.41 While 
explaining that there were about twenty large cattle companies 
r,perating in the Oklahoma country, Couch said: "Burk.& Martin 
have over 100,000 acres as a range, and with 100 acres fenced 
for a horse pasture; good log house, stables, cribs, corrals. etc. 
Gen. Hatch stayed all night there the night previous to his coming 
to arrest us at Stillwater. 

"The McClellan cattle company-they leased about 400,000 
acres from the Cherokees and then extended their wire fences 
so as to take in 100,000 acres of the government land of Oklahoma. 
They have two ranches, with houses, stables, etc., on the Oklahoma 
part. Their fence takes in the settlement of Stillwater, from 
which the colonists were driven." About two weeks later Couch 
telegraphed President Cleveland certain resolutions passed by 
"Payne's -Colony" at Arkansas City, naming cattlemen charged 
with occupying the Oklahoma lands and demanding a thorough 
and speedy investigation.4

:! 

Congress on March 3 took action to purchase outright certain 
Indian country including the Oklahoma Lands.43 At that time a 
Boomer invasion, estimated by Hatch to include 1,500 men 
"amply supplied with arms and ammupition," was in process of 
formation. The action of Congress, together with the determina­
tion of President Cleveland to keep intruders out of Indian Terri­
tory, appears to have halted preparations of the Boomers to resume 
their raids. H 

46 t;;~missioner's Proceeding, No. 301 in U. S. District Court, office of the 
Clerk, District of Kansas, Wichita. Tltt·re is no testimony on file in connection with 
Couch's appearance before Shearman. 

41 Wichita Beacon, Feb. 26, 1885. The article was reprinted in The Kansas City 
Times, March 6, 1885. 

4:!Tt'I. of :i\Iarch 14, 1885, NA, Special Case lll, L. 9971-188.'i . Cf. B. and :i\L 
road and ranch, .-\ppendix .-\, No. I, :-;.,_ III. 

H Act of :\larch 3, 1885, 23 Statutes, 38-t. 
44 On :\Tarch ll, 1H85, Hatch ,uctl' that mn,;t of the Boomers were "ignorant 

and belie,·erl the proclamation nf Prt';idPnt Arthur cease<l to be operative when his 
term expired : ' Hatch to Adj. Gen. Drum, 1661 Div. l\Iq. 1885. President Cleveland 
issued a proclamation on :\larch 13 saying that military power would be used to 
remove intruders from Oklahoma lands. The Bonmers were of the opinion that 
Cleveland harl "not been made acquainted fullv with the situation." See '"The 
Oklahoma Boomers," Frank Leslie's Illustrated iVewspapcr, :\larch 28, 188;;. 
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On April 8 Hatch wrote: "It is possible Couch with the 
other leaders fear the result of cases now bound over for trial, 
and he has gone to Washington, asking· that the prosecution cease 
,vith the understanding that no further attempts will be made on 
his part to enter the Territory. " 4

" J. R. Hallowell, United States 
Attorney at Topeka, reported on May 4 that he had subpoenaed 
Hatch and some of his officers, with some citize.ns of Arkansas 
Cty, before the grand jury, the result of ,vhich was the indictment 
of sixty-eight men including Couch. 4" Delay in preparations on 
the part of the Boomers to invade Indian Territory persuaded 
authorities that the trouble was over, and the United States Dis­
trict Attorney :was instructed to dismiss charges against Couch 
and the other leaders. H 

°The Stillwater vicinity was in the region patrolled by the 
Army. In a report from Camp Russell on May 24, Lieutenant 
C. C. Cusick said: "My route carried me directly through Still­
water, the recent 'boomer' city. I found the place as left by Genl. 
Hatch, destroyed and with no sign of intended re-occupation. 
The wire fencing bounding ranges and enclosing creek and river 
bogs remains as left by the 9th U. S. Cavalry, wholly and com­
pletely dismounted." 

About the same time one Baughman,48 an army scout, re­
ported that there were a number of Boomers on Stillwater Creek 
and Skeleton (Ephraim) Creek. They apparently were looking 
for a location in going across the country. On :May 29 Cusick 
sent Private George Reynolds to Stillwater to scout thoroughly the 
location of the late Boomer town.· There he found a camp of 
Boomers who claimed to be freighters on a return trip to Arkansas 
City. They were "poorly provisioned-transportation outfit of 

4;; Hatch to Augur, April 8, 188.5, 2287 Di,·. :\lo. 188.~. 
4H Ilallowell to :\. H. Garland, \lay 4, 188.,. N.-\., Ju~tice Dt>pl., F. ,3-;-,:;4.rn8.=;_ 

47 Gitti'nger, Formation. of the State of 01.-la., p. 159. In regard to dismissal of 
charges of treason and conspiracy with armed resistance against the United States 
troops, see the article, "No Trial," Oklahoma Boomer, Feb. 18, 1885. Charges 
were against Conch, H. H. Stafford, Gecrge F. Brown and E. S. Wilcox. On March 8 

• Hatch was reported as ha\'ing "200 colored lre>ops" in camp at the line south of 
Arkansas City. Ibid., l\larch 18, 1885. . 

· 4ti This was probably Theodore H. Ilaughman known as Hatch's chief scout. 
Jt is said that in January 1885, Raughman carried dispatches from Stillwater to 
Arkansas City "in twelve hours, with the thermometer twenty-five degrees below 
zero, and a fearful blizzard raging all the time, and when no Indian could be induced 
to leave his tepee." Frank Leslie's Illustrated Newspaper, April 4, 1885. 
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slender character." Shortly thereafter a group of soldiers, "12 
enlisted men properly armed," came to Stillwater to arrest the 
Boomers, but learned that they had left the camp at least two 
days previously.49 

In the summer of 1885 Couch said: "We nave never de­
sired to violate any law, or to bring anybody into any difficulty 
in regard to the matter. We believed we were right, and what 
convinced us as much as anything else has been the trifling of 
the authorities and their failure to carry out the law. The law 
says that for the first offense the party arrested shall be carried 
to the State line at the nearest point; that has been violated. 
After the first offense the military shall turn the prisoner over 
lo the court having jurisdiction, and he shall be proceeded 
against; that has not been carried out. At another time, when 
we went before the court and tried to make complaints against our 
own men in order to get a settlement, we have failed in that; we 
could not get a hearing. That trifling convinced us that the 
Government did not have a good case .... I believe the officials 
knew they did not have a good case.":;° Couch was interested in 
the establishment of a town at Stillwater and expected to secure 
a lot there "if the Government gives me a title." 

· Hallowell, who claimed to have been very vigilant in regard 
lo the Boomers, said in a letter to A. H. Garland, Attorney General 
of the United States: "The scheme of colonization in the Territory 
was originally begot by railroad companies, who were seeking 
this agitation for the purpose of compelling the government to 
open this Territory. They finally abandoned it. Then Payne 
and Couch organized these colonies for the purpose of making 
money, as the parties are charged five to ten dollars for member­
~hip of the colony."~1 

Lieutenant General Philip H. Sheridan wrote in his annual 
report: "The sincerity of the leaders of the Oklahoma colony may 
well be doubted, but they were bold in their movements, and 
carried their scheme to the verge of bloodshed. The belief exists 
that their intention was not actual settlement but to call the atten-

4!1 Cusick to Commanding Officer, Fort Reno, June 5, 1885, 3859 Div. Mo. 1885. 
""Testimum· of Couch. June 6. 188.'i. S. Refiorts 49 Cong. 1 ,.-,,., ix 123631. 

no. 1278. pt. 2: p. -160. 
:;1 Hallowell to Garland . . .\pril 4. 188.'i. ~ .. \, Ju,-tice Dept.. F 3751-188.'i. 
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tion of Congress to the opening up of the Indian Territory, and that 
money was subscribed for their purposes by interested corpora­
tions."·;z Sheridan noted that the "Oklahoma demonstration" 
entailed great hardships on the officers and men stationed in the 
Indian Territory and the regions adjacent thereto.:;a He said that 
"the designs of the invaders were frustrated without a collision, 
and for the able management of a most delicate and often danger­
ous situation the commendations bestowed on Col. Edward Hatch 
by the division comr;nander are fully indorsed.":;4 

Imprints, still visible on the ground, and tradition, more 
than historical documents, have popularized the story of this 
early effort to establish a settlement on the banks of the Stillwater. 
The railroads were interested in having the Oklahon1a Lands 
settled, while cattlemei1 were interested in delaying settlement. 
These interests clashed at Stilhrnter. Perhaps the most powerful 
force was the pressure of population upon desirable land. It was 
a que~tion of lebensraum. 

From the viewpoint of established law the title to the Okla­
homa Lands was in the Creeks and Seminoles. Although two 
railroad companies had rights from the federal government to 
construct roads across the lands, and one company had a promise 
of certain alternate sections there, the Boomers had no right under 
existing law to settle on the lands. Occupation of the lands hy 
cattlemen did not legalize the cause of the Boomers. Has not 
force, even violent revolution, sometimes altered existing law? 
"\\rhat group, domestic or foreign, has endured a burning de.$ire 
for lebensraum when its force was considered sufficient to attain 
its wants, to satiate its greed? And what group, possessing 
sufficient political or physical force, has not asserted a "higher 
law" or a different interpretation of existing law if thereby its 
burning desires could better be satisfied? Since "every way of 
a man is right in his own eyes," the Boomers found self-justifica­
tion for their contentions. Their invasion was only a faint echo 

;,~Sheridan to St>c. War. Oct. 2l, l8f3-~. H. Ex. Docs., Loe. rit., pp. 6'.l: 125. 
Hatch observed that the "leatler~ m~re well supplied with money:• Cf. p. 28 ab,we. 

:;:i Thi~ nutation reminds one of an ironic stalt•ment in The Oklahoma Chiej, 
Feh. 3, 1885: "Oh! '.'.o! The cattle men Jon"t care wh,•ther the Buumers settle in 
Oklahoma or not, but they di:-:like In ha,e their frirnd, Gen. Hatch, kept out in thl" 
cold, and so gn>:-:t>ly [sic] abused l,y tho,;e '11nm..rcif11I Boomer:-:'"! It's l<Jo bad.'" 

~• 4 Augur ,aid ihat Hatch', '"cnnduct has hren emint>ntly careful and j11dicio11,.'· 
A11!!llf to Adj. G,·n. of the .-\rmy, Feb. 3, 1885, ll-13 Div. )!,,. 1885. · 
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of America's "manifest destiny." 

Captain George F. Price on September 1, 1886, reported 
that the Stillwater country was "free from intruding white men 
and cattle"{'" that Boomers had generally gone to work on the 
railways then building on the State line and across Indian Terri­
tory. In 1886-87 the Southern Kansas Railway Company and the 
Gulf, Colorado and Santa Fe Railway Company constructed a rail­
road entirely across Oklahoma via Wharton and Guthrie, coming 
within twenty-five miles of the abandoned settlement of Still­
water. ~'0 The next chapter will relate how lands in the vicinity 
of Stillwater were settled in the Run of '89: 

Ii,, !\A, Stillwater Collection. Sume of the Stillwater Boomers eventually settled 
on the Oklahoma Lands. W. L. Couch in 1889 becamf? the first mayor of Oklahoma 
City. The Kansas City Star on April 22, 1890, said: "Captain W. L. Couch ,:l ied 
Monday [.-\pril 21) on his claim, near Oklahoma City, of blood poisoning, which 
resulted from a wound he received some weeks ago ·at the hands of C. S. Adams 
during a quarrel about the ]and upun whirh Couch was living." . 

56 Preston George and Sylvan R. Wood, The Railroads of Oklahoma, p. 38. 

@ PAYNE COLONY 1884· 1984 

n;.n CENTENNIAL 
SCHEDULE OF EVENTS 

Friday, December 7, 7:30 p.m. , Old Central, OSU 
Presentation and discussion on ''The Boomers: who they were and 
what was their significance" by Danny Goble, author of Progressive 
Oklahoma. 

Saturday, December 8, 9:00 a.m., Downtown Stillwater 
Parade 

Saturday, December 8, 11 :00 a.m., Middle School Auditorium 
Commemorative ceremony with speaker A. M. Gibson, author and 
Oklahoma historian. 

Saturday, December 8, 2:30 p.m., Allred Farm 
Colony site rededication with Senator Bernice Shedrick 



One Pioneer Family: 
William L. and Cynthia E. Couch 

by Eugene Couch 

In the fall of 1879, Capt. David L. Payne, who lived a few miles 
northeast of Wichita, came to town and began telling of the govern· 
ment land known as Oklahoma that lie in the heart of Indian 
territory. And as this land had not been assigned to any tribe of 
Ind_ians it was, therefore, Payne declared, public land and subject 
to homestead settlement. He quoted as authority for his belief, the 
homestead act of 1879, Sec. 2-239, which reads as follows: 

"All lands belonging to the United States, to which the Indian 
title has been or may be hereafter extinguished, shall be subject to 
the right of pre-emption under the conditions, restrictions and 
stipulations provided by law." 

The white people had practically exhausted the supply of free 
government land that could at that time be far:med successfully in 
Kansas and Nebraska. A one hundred and sixty acre homestead in 
Oklahoma with its fertile soil, mild winters and an average of thirty 
inch rainfall was really an attractive proposition to men with families 
whose sons and daughters would soon be ready for homes of their 
own. 

William Couch heard Payne's Oklahoma story and believed it 
sound and joined the Payne's Oklahoma Colonization movement. 
He attended a Boomer convention at Topeka, where resolutions were 
passed asking Kansas through its legislature to do something to aid 
in opening Oklahoma to settlement .... 

Returning from the Topeka convention and fired with enthus­
iasm, William Couch attended a mass meeting of business men at 
Wichita early in January 1880. He made substantial contributions 

The following article is exerpted from a small publication "One 
Pioneer Family: William L. and Cynthia E. Couch" by Eugene 
Couch, son of William and Cynthia Couch. The Review is indebited 
to the Couch family for its usage here. 

21 
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in financing the early organization work of Payne's Oklahoma 
Colony. He began to bind off his business interests in Wichita and 
to shift more and more into dealing in Texas horses and on several 
occasions made trips on horseback to Texas to purchase and drive 
through to Kansas herds of Texas ponies. In this way he became 
very familiar with the Oklahoma country, its climate, soil and 
conditions in general. 

The virgin soil of the prairies was covered with a luxuriant 
growth of grass and the fertility of the valleys of the many creeks 
and rivers was unsurpassed. The banks of the streams were lined 
with willow, cottonwood and elm. In the low bottom were hackberry, 
mulberry, ash, walnut, pecan and oak. In numerous localities were 
wonderful groves of post oak, white burr and red oak. The streams 
in Oklahoma were full of fish and the banks were the habitat of 
many fur bearing animals such as opossum, coon, muskrat, wildcat, 
otter and beaver. The Oklahoma country was full of such game as 
quail, prairie chicken, turkey, deer and antelope. There were also 
coyotes, wolves and a few panthers or mountain lions. For pro­
tection, everyone went armed. There were no courts and all 
,Hfferences were settled personally. There were no towns and only 
a few ranch houses. 

Hundreds of thousands of Texas cattle were grazed in, and 
driven through Oklahoma on their way to the railroads in Kansas 
for shipment to market. 

Permanent ranching with buildings and fences was just getting 
under way in Oklahoma and the Cherokee Strip. 

Along the Chisholm trail was a string of stage' coach relay and 
supply stations. Over this trail were hauled supplies for the military 
posts, Fort Reno and Fort Sill, and the Indian agencies at Darlington 
and Anadarko.. A stage line also conveyed mail and passengers over 
this trail. •.. 

Here in Oklahoma were about one million eight hundred 
thousand acres .of good land owned by the United States govern­
ment. This land was left over after all the Indians had been assigned 
their various reservations and still remained virtually unoccupied 
except for herds of cattle since its purchase in 1866. Couch believed 
the problem of many homeless people could be solved by settling 
in this unassigned land. 

It had been the custom that when land had been acquired from 
the Indians by treaty or otherwise and surveyed into sections and 
quarter sections by the government, that it was ready for settlement 
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under the homestead act. Now here was land that had been 
sectionized in the early · seventies. No one doubted that this was 
public land ..•• 

The Atlantic and Pacific railway had been granted a right-of-way 
through the country and promised each alternate section of land for 
several miles on each side of the track if they would construct such 
a railway. "How could the government make such a grant unless 
the land belonged to the government." This question was asked by 
the Boomers. 

The more William Couch studied the situation, the more he 
became convinced of the unfairness of a condition which would not 
permit homeless American citizens to settle on public land but did 
allow cattle interests to graze the land with their cattle. It appeared 
vast fortunes were being made by the cattle interests while the 
private citizen remained homeless. William Couch accepted this 
challenge and determined that this unequality of opportunity shuuld 
cease. 

He felt that something should be done to allow the private 
citizen the same chance the larger interest had. While he had been 
a member of Payne's Oklahoma Colony ever since its organization 
in 1880, he now decided to give full time and attention to this work 
until settlement of Oklahoma should be permitted. 

In 1882, he moved his family, now consisting of wife and five 
children (Albert C. Born December 19, 1875, Eugene Q. born May 
l, 1878 and Perley A. born October 31, 1881,) to Douglass from 
Wichita. He did this that they might be near his father while he 
was away in the interest of the Payne's Oklahoma Colony movement. 

During the winter of 1882-83, Capt. Payne had made an exten­
sive campaign for the largest invasion ever attempted with the hope 
that by sheer numbers they would be able to remain in the Oklahoma 
country, if not, the publicity created by this wholesale attempt 
would cause congress, which was in session, to take some favorable 
action. February 1, 1883 was the date set for the colony to leave 
Arkansas City and start for the "Promised Land." 

William L. Couch arrived January 31, 1883 from Douglass with 
twenty men in five wagons. After a brief meeting at which Capt. 
Payne outlined the object and purpose of the invasion, he placed 
the five wagons from Douglass at the head of the wagon train and 
appointed William Couch as train master.,., 

Abou.t twenty miles were co7ed the first day. In the afternoon 
a cold wave blew up bringing/"10w which continued to fall during 
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the entire night. Due to this severe weather, the Boomers remained 
in camp all day February 2nd. The train moved on almost due south 
Fehruary 3rd, and after covering about seventeen miles went into 
camp on Red Rock Creek. When they reached the Salt Fork the ice 
was so thick that the entire wagon train crossed safely over .... 

On the afternoon of the 7th, the Boomers were .met by Lieu­
tenant Stevens and his men. Lieut. Stevens commanded William L. 
Couch to halt the wagon train; this Couch refused to do. Lieut. 
Stevens and his men then joined in with the wagon train and con­
tinued on to Coffee Creek where camp was made for the night. 

On the morning of the 8th, after a very short drive, they came 
to Deep Fork Creek. Much of the snow had now melted making 
Deep Fork too full to ford. Trees were felled and the narrow but 
deep channel was quickly bridged. 

While axes were being brought forward for this work, C. P. 
\1\/ickmiller, the Boomer photographer, ran across a log nearby and 
attempted to get a picture of the curving wagon train that wound 
its way back to the hill. The enthusiasm of the Boomers as they 
crowded forward on foot almost prevented this. A good close-up of 
the Boomers resulted but only a few wagons show in the picture. 
From the Deep Fork crossing (which is at the bridge on the section 
line seven miles due east of Edmond) the wagon train moved on 
southeast to the North Canadian River. 

Here they set up camp in the bend of the river on the southwest 
quarter of section sixteen, township thirteen north, range one west 
of the Indian merridian. This was just across the river, north-east 
of the proposed Ewing City that had been platted years before. This 
proved to be an ideal camp site ..•• 

The camp, which was called Camp Alice, being named for the 
only child in the entire camp, was also strategically located. It was 
located opposite the 7C Flat and between_ the Nine Mile and what 
later became the Kickapoo Flats. The Boomers were due for a 
surprise, however, for they had scarcely become settled when Capt. 
Carroll of the U. S. Army with two Companies of soldiers appeared 
and placed Capt. Payne under arrest. Payne asked for five days time 
to break camp. There were about 150 Boomers from Texas on the 
South Canadian River about forty miles southwest. Mr. Waldron 
from Kansas City was said to be on the Cimarron, northeast, with 
about one hundred fifty men. Capt. Payne had hoped that these re­
inforcements would arrive during this five day respite. There was 
also that eternal prospect that congress might take some favorable 
action. 
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From the time the wagon train had entered Oklahoma, the 
company had grown in number until, after a count was made, there 
were found to be 119 wagons and about six hundred people.,.. 

The minority faction was bound to demonstrate so they stole 
out of camp and made selections of claims and as soon as this was 
know Capt. Carroll cancelled the five day stay and issued orders 
that, "All Boomers remaining in camp tomorrow morning will be 
taken to Ft. Reno." On the morrow, Capt. Payne, Mr: Ackerly, Mr. 
W. H. Osborn and C. P. Wickmiller were started for Ft. Reno in the 
charge of the infantry. The others, including William Couch, were 
started for the Kansas line, escorted by the U. S. Cavalry. They 
arrived at Hunnewell and Arkansas City, February 19th. 

This being the first real "wholesale" invasion by the hundreds, 
there was considerable diasppointment. The faction misund.erstood 
Capt. Payne and charged him with selfish motives. · 

William Couch understood Capt. Payne fully and did every­
thing in his power to carry out the program as outlined by Payne. 

The next invasion was planned for May 1, 1883, but because 
spring farm work calling so many of the colonist home, it became 
difficult to recruit a sufficient number to justify the expedition, so 
the date was tenatively set for June 25, 1883. However, there was 
further delay, Capt. Payne having been called away on colony 
business. Finally, late in July Couch, at Payne's request, took over 
the direction of the movements of all colony expeditions and one 
hundred and fifty men entered Oklahoma August 1, 1883. They 
intended to settle on the North Canadian river but when they had 
reached and crossed the Cimarron near Camp Russell opposite the 
mouth of the Skeleton Creek, they were arrested by Lieut. Day and 
his negro soldiers. Couch, Goodrick, Maidt, Burns and Brown were 
taken to Fort Reno and held in guard house most of the time for 
ten days. They were then taken to the Kansas line and released. 

Within a few days, Couch, with about thirty men settled on 
Deep Fork Creek, a short distance east of the Indian Meridian. This 
was just west of the present town of Luther. They were soon ar­
rested by Lieut. Taylor and taken to Fort Reno where they were 
closely confined in a tent for several days after which eight of these 
were taken to Red River and released .••• 

Several days were spent by the Boomers in locating claims along 
the valleys of Deep Fork and North Canadian. William Couch 
selected 160 acres situated in the south half of Sec. 8 Township 18, 
Range 1 East. (This land was not opened in the original opening 
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of 1889. It had been reserved for the Kickapoo Indians by an 
executive order of August 15, 1883.) The Boomers then returned to 
Kansas unmolested .•.. 

Early in April 1884, William entered Oklahoma with a large 
colony of Boomers who settled along the North Canadian River. 
There were an estimated one thousand men scattered up and down 
the Canadian for a distance of fifteen miles. The central camp was 
located at the spring on Sec. 26, T. 12, N. Range 3, west on what is 
now the grounds of Webster Junior High School, Oklahoma City. 
Here were many of the seasoned members of Payne's Oklahoma 
colony. Each day many of them would leave the camp and go out 
to select homesteads. After having decided upon their choice for a 
future home, they would at once begin to improve it by digging a 
well, building a log house and plowing the sod. 

Couch's father had selected the N. W. ¼ Sec. 4, Twp., 11, N.R. 
3 west for his claim and had started plowing. At about one P.M. 
Friday April 24, 1884, Lieut. Day with seven negro cavalry men 
appeared and ordered Couch to stop ..•• 

Lieut. Day sent for reinforcements and when a total of 23 
soldiers were mobolized they took Couch by force. M. H. Couch was 
placed in the back of the government wagon and tied both hand and 
foot. The soldiers then started toward the Boomer camp and when 
they reached a point near where the Santa Fe station is now located, 
they were just about to meet Wm. Couch. Wm. Couch to avoid ar­
rest by the soldiers began to round up some stray cattle grazing in 
the river bottom. The soldiers believing Couch was a cattleman, 
passed on and thus he escaped arrest .... 

That night William Couch stole into camp where the Boomers 
were being held by the troops. After conferring with the leaders, 
departed for Kansas arriving Monday, April 28th. 

Here assembled another party of 150 to 200 nien to invade 
Oklahoma and in a few days they were encamped on the south side 
of the Cimarron in the big bend opposite the mouth of Skeleton 
Creek. After remaining a few days, they had a "brush" with Lieut. 
Day and his negro troops. Several of the Boomers nursed bruised 
heads for several days because of hand to hand fighting with the 
soldiers. 

Of those leading Boomers arrested at the camp on the Canadian 
April 24, there were Mr. McGregor, A. C . . McCord, J. D. Odell, 
M. H. Couch, John McGraw, D. J. Greathouse, James 0. Loughlan, 
N. T. Nix, M. W. Sawyer and E. S. Wilcox. These men were taken 
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to Fort Reno and later to the Kansas line near Caldwell where they 
were turned over to U.S. Marshals, Williams and Myers. They were 
then sent to Wichita, Kansas before the U. S. Court and on May 12 
released under bond of $250.00 to appear May 14 for trial. 

The Boomers appeared for trial but as usual, they were unable 
to get a hearing and their cases were dismissed. 

William Couch accompanied Payne on his last &nd largest in­
vasion. There were perhaps a thousand people in the party and 
settlement was made in Cherokee strip in June 1884 at Rock• 
falls on the Chikaskia River four miles from the Kansas line, due 
south of Hunnewell, Kansas. A printing office was erected and the 
Oklahoma War Chief was printed by Grant Harris in defiance of 
the Sec. of Interior, Teller. The secretary had caused to be posted 
on the door of the office a notice that anyone who printed or attempt­
ed to print a paper in the Cherokee Strip should be subject to a fine 
of from $1.00 to $1 ,000.00 and to imprisonment from one to five 
years. Young Harris, 19 years of age, was unafraid and printed the 
paper regularly as the Official Organ of Payne's Oklahoma Colony, 
until the seventh of August 1884, when General Hatch with a 
company of negro soldiers arrested the leaders of the Colony; Payne, 
Cooper, Couch, Eichelberger, Mosely, Holder, Clark, Stafford and 
Harris, the printer. Harris, because of his youth, was told "to 
beat it" to the Kansas line, but the others under arrest were loaded 
into government wagons and started toward Fort Smith, Arkansas. 
The rest of the colony members were allowed to return to the 
Kansas line . . .. 

When the soldiers taking the eight Colonists to Ft. Smith 
reached Red Rock Creek, they were overtaken by U. S. Marshal, 
W. B. Williams with warrants out of the Wichita U. S. District 
court, for the arrest of the Boomers. The troops refused to surrender 
the colonists to the U. S .. Marshal. Whereupon the United States 
Court issued an order to arrest the army officers for resisting the 
orders of the court. Clashes were frequent between the military and 
civil authorities. 

The military's authority for removing the settlers was an order 
originally issued by President Arthur in 1880 and confirmed by his 
successors, wherein the trespassers were to be removed to the 
nearest border and turned over to civil authorities for prosecution. 
In this case the settlers when arrested at Rock Falls were within 
four miles of the Kansas line where they should have been turned 
over to civil authorities having jurisdiction but instead they were 
being taken to Ft. Smith, Arkansas a distance of over two hundred 
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miles to be delivered to officers without jurisdiction and to a court 
that would not be in session for over two months. 

The Boomers knew they were being treated unfairly and pro­
bably it was through their influence that the U. S. Marshal de­
manded their surrender to him, they felt that if they could be taken 
in to the U. S. Court which was in session at Wichita, they would 
probably have the question settled once and for all as to whether 
they had violated any law in their attempts to make settlement. 

Because of the Boomers complaints and their efforts to secure 
habeas corpus, they were now removed to Fort Gibson and held 
under guard several days before being returned to the Arkansas 
River opposite Fort Smith. The prisoners were loaded into a boat 
and taken across the river to the Arkansas side. Just as they were 
landing, a U. S. Marshal stepped up with papers for their arrest. 
The army officer in charge sensing the danger of losing his prisoners, 
jerked one that was already ashore back into the boat and shoved 
off before the Marshal had time to serve his papers. The Boomers 
were then taken back across the river and returned to their tents. 
The telegraph wires were kept "hot" between the officer in charge 
and his superiors. 

Finally the prisoners were taken over to the Arkansas side of 
the. river and released September 8. 

The U. S. Marshal now served Capt. Payne with a summons to 
appear at the November term of U. S .. court. 

The Wichita U. S. Court had original jurisdiction and the 
Boomers rights were disregarded when they were taken to the 
Arkansas line. The colonists had been held thirty-two days without 
warrant or without any written charges filed against them. Such 
bullying tactics on the part of the troops only acted as a spur to the 
Boomers. 

Capt. Payne and William L. Couch were back in Wichita Septem­
ber 10, having returned by rail from Fort Smith through Missouri. 
They, at once, began to hold meetings in the following towns: 
Eldorado, Augusta, Wichita and Douglass ... , 

Capt. Payne and Couch went to Wellington from Douglass. 
Here Payne addressed a large crowd at the fair grounds. The next 
day, September 20, he attended a reorganization meeting of the 
colony held at South Haven. Capt. Payne was re-elected president, 
Wm. Couch, vice-president and A. C. McCord, secretary treasure; 
H. H. Stafford, recorder; M. P. Gilbert, surveyor; Mr. Weythman, 
Marshal. At this meeting it was decided that the location for the 
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Capital City of Oklahoma should be changed from the original 
designation made by Payne's Colony on its first invasion May 1880 
of S. W. ¼ Sec. 11, Twp. 11 N. R. 3 W to Sec. 31-32 Twp. 12, N. R. 4 
W which at that time was called Johnston's grove, which is on the 
south side of 10th street eight miles west of the Santa Fe tracks 
at Oklahoma City. This was regarded at that time as almost the 
exact geographical center of the coming state. It had been nlanned 
to make settlement there October 9th. Mr. M. P. Gilbert with 
several men had been sent to survey the location ad reported every­
thing coming along satisfactory at first but later there was some 
delay. The invasion was postponed until after Payne's trial before 
Judge Foster. · 

Payne appeared for trial at Topeka, Kansas, November 4, and 
his case was reached November 12th. Judge Foster acquitted Payne 
of the charge of trespassing on Indian land. 

Feeling ran high among the Boomers as this was the first time 
that they had been able to get their case into court and now they had 
been to court and won the decision. They thought that they would 
now be allowed to settle Oklahoma unmolested so the date was set 
for November 20 for the next settlement. 

Meetings were held at the border towns and preparations went 
steadily forward. Payne became very ill and remained ill for over a 
week at Arkansas City, Kansas. He had really never fully recovered 
from his illness contracted during confinement while being taken 
as a prisoner to Fort Smith by the military forces. 

Payne finally recovered sufficiently to make a short speaking 
tour. He spoke at Hunnewell and then went to Wellington Thursday 
November 27. Here he addressed a large gathering of people in the 
court house. He retired about eleven P.M. · 

While at the breakfast table at the DeBarnard Hotel the next 
morning, David L. Payne died, (November 28, 1884.) 

The cause given for David L. Payne's death was heart disease. 
A resident of Winfield, Kansas had warned Captain Payne of the 

,_ danger of continuing his speaking tour. True to the fine pioneer 
spirit, he was not to be bluffed or bullied. Only one thing mattered, 
Capt. Payne reasoned; that was his loyalty to the cause to which he 
so generously gave his time and his life. He could not let down the 
ten thousand followers who had subscribed to the cause that was so 
dear to his heart. -- The cause of freedom. He knew full well, as all 
martyrs know, that every just cause shall triumph. That there are 
some things more precious than life itself. That every just cause 
shall always find advocates to carry them to their conclusion and to 
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be connected with such movements, is an honor and mark of dis· 
tinction. The work that Captain Payne had so faithfully began was 
continued with very little interruption. 

On December 8, 1804, the colony of two or three hundred 
Boomers moved forward again with Wm. L. Couch at its head. 
Settlement this time was on Boomer Creek near where the present 
town of Stillwater is located. The Boomers constructed some dug­
outs in the creek bank. Tents were stretched over wooden frame 
work. Wagon boxes were removed from the running gear and were 
placed on the ground and banked with earth. The wagon covers of 
canvass was buttoned down to make them warm and the Boomers 
had settled down for the winter hoping that at last they would not 
be removed or molested by the U. S. Troops. Lieut. Day, with 
thirty soldiers attempted to arrest Couch and the leaders on Jan. 
7, 1885, but Couch refused to submit. Lieut. M. W. Day requisi• 
tioned the war department for re-enforcements. · 

Between January 7th and 24th, there were a total of seven 
companies of cavalry and one of infantry gathered from Fort Sill, 
Fort Reno and other places. 

During this time Colonel Hatch and Lieutenant Day carried on 
a constant telegraphic conversation with General Augur. 

Lieutenant General Sheridan and General Schofield in an 
attempt to solve this vexatious problem of how to handle the 
Boomers and in case there was a collision between the troops and 
Boomers, just what formula to employ. There was an earnest desire 
on the part of each office to avoid the responsibility in case of an 
armed clash with Couch and his men. Under the command of 
Colonel Hatch early Monday January 24, 1885 the bugle sounded, 
the cavalry moved into position. Two pieces of artillery were trained 
on the Boomer camp, another demand to surrender was made and as 
promptly was refused. Capt. Carroll told Wm. L. Couch that if he 
did not surrender within five minutes that the army would open fire. 
Couch replied, "Then turn your dogs loose." Couch reasoned that 
in as much as· the Federal Court had decided that Oklahoma was 
public domain, the military would not force the issue. The Boomers 
".eat tight" and the soldiers returned to their camp. 

Couch had his troubles also. There was the usual faction of hot 
heads who desired more than anything else to fire on the U.S. troops 
and thereby bring the matter to an immediate conclusion. The hot 
head faction reasoned that as Judge Foster had decided that 
Oklahoma was public domain, there could be but one reason why 
the soldiers still persisted in removing the Boomers and that reason 



PAYNE COUNTY HISTORICAL REVIEW 31 

was that the cattle interests were able to control the actions of the 
officers and the movement of the troops, thereby keeping for them­
selves the rich grazing lands of the public domain, while the settler 
was always arrested, abused and ejected without warrant or trial in 
this "land of the free." 

Couch insisted that the Boomers should not open fire on the 
troops. His attitude here at Stillwater as it had been at all times 
and as he expressed it on one occasion, "We are peace loving, law 
abiding American citizens here trying to get homes for ourselves, 
families and neighbors. We have done no wrong." If there was to 
be gun fire between the troops and Boomers, it s~ould certainly 
begin with the troops. However, if the worst must come, the settlers 
must certainly return the fire. Wm. L. Couch remained up all night 
belaboring the quick tempered faction of the Boomers, reasoning 
with them the utter futility of opening fire on the U. S. Army, 
which some had planned to do at daybreak on the morning of 
January 25, 1885. 

The warring faction of the Boomers spent the night in casting 
lead bullets for the winchester rifles and reloading the cartridges 
and the brass shotgun shells with buckshot. 

Dawn of January 25, 1885, at Stillwater and to the Boomers the 
zero hour had arrived. All was tense in Camp Couch on Boomer 
Creek. The sun came up clear on the horizon. Minutes seemed like 
hours to the Boomers. But after a time the tenseness was somewhat 
relieved, since the usual military formation was absent and there 
was no blare of trumpets. The troops had remained in camp, except 
for a few small detachment which now departed silently in every 
direction of the compass. 

The Boomers went about their camp activities somewhat re­
lieved but wondering why there detachments had been sent out. To 
keep the colony, which had grown from two hundred to about four 
hundred and fifty persons provided with food and the many horses 
and mules with feed, required the bringing in of fresh supplies al­
most daily. 

Those cavalrymen who had ridden away so quietly soon gave 
account of themselves by apprehending Boomer supply wagons. No 
food, feed or mail was allowed to come through to the Boomers. 

A check on supplies was made by the Boomers and only five 
day's rations were on hand. The expedition was doomed. To con­
tinue without supplies was impossible. Re-assembling their 
equipment the Boomers reluctantly returned to Arkansas City on 
January 30 under their own power and without military escort. 
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Another invasion was planned for March 5th. Plans went stead­
ily forward until Couch and the leaders, Brown, Wilcox and Stafford 
were arrested on charges of treason and conspiracy against the 
government. They were released upon their own recognizance, but 
when the case came up for trial at Wichita February 10, the prose­
cuting witness did not appear and the case was dismissed. 

William Couch now left Wichita for Topeka, February 26, to 
confer with the delegation who was to go to Washington to press 
the Oklahoma cause. 

Many friends of the Boomer movement believed that Grover 
Cleveland, newly elected President of the United States, would de­
clare the country open to settlement under Squatters Sovereignty. 
It was reasoned that in as much as the Government had granted 
the Atlantic and Pacific Railway alternate section of land on either 
side of their road, it surely would allow the settlers to homestead 
the remainder. It was reasoned that if the government could grant 
land to the railroad, that was evidence of government ownership 
and, by the same token, the government could also grant settlers 
the right to settle. Big business could "get theirs." Why not the 
individual settler, his? But Couch and the Boomers were disap­
pointed when on March 13 President Cleveland declared the land 
belonged to the Indians and therefore was not subject to homestead 
settlement, and warned the settlers to stay out. 

Couch called a meeting of the colonists and strong resolutions 
were passed protesting against the cattlemen being allowed to fence 
and pasture the lands while the Boomers were ejected. 

Orders were issued by the President for the removal of wire 
fences and permanent buildings belonging to the cattlemen. The 
cattlemen did not take this order seriously, because it seemed they 
believed that they were so powerful as to be above the law. They 
had held possession of the grazing land so long and were so well 
entrenched with the officers in the Indian department, with the 
United States military officials and with some members of Congress 
that doubtless they believed their position impregnable. However, 
theirs was a false security. The facts did not justify this confidence. 
Since the election of President Cleveland and the appointment of 
Sec. of Interior, Lamar, a change of attitude seemed evident. 

With a desire for first hand information, Wm. Couch went to 
Washington to confer with President Cleveland and Sec. of Interior, 
L. Q. C. Lamar. Couch informed Lamar that he wished to know 
what course the administration had determined to pursue with 
reference to Oklahoma and the settlers. "Well sir," said Lamar, 
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"I will state to you the policy of this administration with regard 
to the Oklahoma country. It considers the Oklahoma on which the 
people you represent are preparing to make settlement as within 
and a part of Indian territory. The administration regards it not 
as a part of the public domain open to entry and settlement and 
acquisition of titles under the land laws of the United States. Being 
Indian country, this territory is acquired and reserved for Indian 
occupancy. The government is pledged to the protection of it and 
the security of the Indians from intruders. No white persons have 
a right to go there and reside without a permit. The policy of the 
president is to execute the pledge of the government and protect 
the territory from the intrusion of white persons who claim that 
they have a right to enter upon it and that it was public domain 
subject to preemption and homestead settlement." "Is that the 
final decision," asked Couch. "It is and will be enforced," said 
Lamar. Couch pointed out to Sec. Lamar the inequality of the treat· 
ment given the cattlemen and the Boomers. Sec. Lamar replied, 
"The wealthiest cattle baron down in Oklahoma shall receive no 
better treatment at my hands than the humblest settler." This was 
the first time that the Boomers had been able to get a statement 
of the Government's policy concerning Oklahoma. 

The determined stand taken at Stillwater by Couch and the 
Boomers, requiring eight companies of federal troops seemed to 
have born fruit. On March 3, congress passed an act directing the 
president to enter into negotiations and treaties with the Creek and 
Seminole Indians to clear the U. S. title to the unassigned lands, 
also, with the Cherokees, to any claim they might have on the 
Cherokee outlet, thus preparing these lands for homestead settle­
ment. 

Couch, with renewed courage, returned to the Boomer camp on 
the border which was located on the White farm on Bluff Creek 
south of Caldwell, Kansas. Some two hundred Boomers were 
camped there, many having remained since their return in January 
from Stillwater. It now was generally believed that Oklahoma would 
probably soon be thrown open for settlement. 

These compound agitations on the part of Couch and the colony 
did cause congress to send a senatorial committee to investigate 
conditions in Oklahoma. 

On June 4, 1885, Wm. L. Couch sent the following letter to 
Henry L. Daws, Chairman on Indian affairs, United States Senate. 



34 PAYNE COUNTY HISTORICAL REVIEW 

Sir: 

Caldwell, Kansas 
June 4, 1885. 

It is reported in the public press that the committee 
on Indian affairs of the U. S. senate of which you are 
chairman, is now in the Indian territory, engaged in the 
taking of testimony, relating to the large number of 
illegal leases, of the Indian lands, executed during the 
administration of President Arthur, to the cattlemen 
and the syndicates, and also in regard to the status of 
the Oklahoma question. 

The people of this section of the country situated 
immediately on the northern border of the Indian terri­
tory, and of the Oklahoma lands, have not been advised 
of the movements of your committee of the points at 
which testimony will be taken tho there are many here 
who are familiar with the whole subject and can give 
valuable testimony on the question at issue. 

After consultation with a large number of citizens 
of Kansas and others, I have the honor to request that 

your committee hold a session at Caldwell, Kansas or at 
some other convenient point in this section of the state 
for the purpose of receiving such testimony as is perti­
nent to the inquiry as may be submitted. We offer to 
prove: 

1. That some of the leases of the Indian territory 
were secured by bribing Indians. 

2. That officers in the Indian department have re­
ceived and paid bribes to secure leases or permits from 
the Indians. 

3. That the army has been used to dispossess one 
class of cattlemen and to put another class in possession 
under illegal leases. 

4. That the intercourse act, prohibiting the intro­
duction and sale of liquors in the Indian territory has 
been violated by the army. 

5. That on frequent occasions the army of the U. S. 
has inflicted inhuman outrages upon American citizens 
in Oklahoma and the Indian territory contrary to the 
plain provisions of revised statutes. The general charac-
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ter of these outrages in a few of many cases may b_e 
described as follows: .•••• 

6. That during the last two years the Oklahoma 
have been occupied by the cattlemen holding a large 
number of cattle and that while the homeseekers have 
been excluded by the army the cattlemen have been 
allowed to remain in illegal possession. 

7. That during the time other persons have been 
permitted to illegally occupy land in Oklahoma, to erect 
valuable and permanent improvements, are n~w in 
possession of same and that the occupancy has been 
within the knowledge of the officers of the army. 

8. That in as much as it has been stated in the 
United States Senate that the Oklahoma lands are as 
free from cattle and cattlemen as the virgin soil of the 
garden of Eden and that the lands have not been sur­
veyed. It is desirable to place on the records of your 
committee sworn evidence to show that said statements 
were untrue. 

I am prepared to furnish to your committee a list 
of witnesses composed of known and respectable citi· 
zens, who will give testimony on the points enumerated 
above and on other points essential to a correct determi­
nation of the real questions that are involved in the 
Oklahoma controversy." 

Respectfully, 
Wm. L. Couch. 

Two days later, June 6, 1885 at Caldwell, Kansas, the senatorial 
Committee met and Wm. L. Couch was questioned at length (see 
Senate committee report on Indian affairs 1278 Part 2, 1st session 
49th congress, 1886.) ••• 

By fall considerable discontentment was manifest in the Boomer 
camp at Caldwell because of the delay in Washington of any action 
being taken to open Oklahoma. Couch called his lieutenants together 
and it was decided to make an excursion into Oklahoma, investigate 
conditions and arouse sentiment. October 22, 1885 was the date set 
to break camp. In addition to many wagons, there were many 
horseback riders, some of whom were Wm. L. Couch, Abe Couch, 
Joe Blackburn, Dr. Ross, Arch Stinson, Joe Couch, Wm. Renfrow, 
Issac Renfrow and Samuel Crocker. Jim Holbrook was camp cook. 

The wagon train moved out of camp on Bluff Creek near 
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Caldwell before day break on Oct. 22 and when the sun came up, 
they were several miles into the Cherokee strip. They followed the 
Reno trail (Chisholm Trail) to the Cimarron crossing and then 
turned southeast arriving at the military crossing on Deep Fork 
Creek on the afternoon of October 28. Here they camped for the 
night. The following day the 325 Boomers proceeded four miles 
south to Round Grove which is the present Stiles Park in Oklahoma 
City. Here a permanent camp was set up between the grove and the 
spring near the present Webster Jr. High School. ... 

These activities had scarcely begun until they were rudely 
shattered by the coming of three companies of U. S. Cavalry, under 
the command of Lieut. James, who took not only Couch and the 
other leaders as was their custom but placed under guard the entire 
company of 325 persons. They were held until eleven o'clock the 
following day when movement was begun toward Ft. Reno. The 
stop of the first night was on the small creek that empties into 
the Canadian River north of Thirty-ninth street Lake Overholser. 

After reaching Fort Reno and the usual unwinding of red tape, 
the Boomers were taken to the Kansas line and dismissed. 

This was the last attempt to settle in Oklahoma by Payne's 
colony. There had been no less than 15 invasions, nine of which, 
Wm. Couch took part and seven of which were directly under his 
leadership. Time was now ripe for a change of tactics. From 1880 
to 1885 inclusive, approximately thirteen thousand persons had 
joined Payne's Oklahoma Colony. The country was fully informed 
as to the issues involved. The wheels of congress had already begun 
to move to solve this vexatious problem. The leading members of 
the colony had submitted to arrest and been taken out so many 
times that it now seemed to them such conduct and submission had 
already fulfilled its purpose. 

It became evident to Wm. Couch, the leader of the colony, and 
to Sidney Clarke who had been in Washington working on the 
Oklahoma cause for more than one year, that congressional action 
was imperative. Therefore early in December, 1885, Couch shaved 
off his long beard, laid aside his rough western garb (boots, wide 
hat, and blue flannel shirt) and substituted an outfit suitable for 
his appearance in the halls of congress at Washington where he 
went after concurring with the Hon. Sidney Clarke in drafting the 
Oklahoma territorial bill which with some ammendments became 
know later as the Springer Bill ... . 

For a better understanding of what the Oklahoma Colony did 
from December 21, 1885 to February 8, 1888 with William Couch 
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as president, can be had from reading his short talk made at the 
convention at Kansas City, Mo. February 8, 1888, which was called 
jointly by the Board of Trade and Commercial Club of Kansas City 
to consider the matter of the opening of Indian territory to settle­
ment. After many speeches had been made by delegates, Wm. 
Couch was calJeli &fl the last one and addressed the convention as 
follows: 

"Mr. President an<i Gentlemen of the Convention: It is some­
what embarrassing to me to be called upon to address so large and 
intelligent an audience as this and I want to say now that I had 
hoped at the time I came here that I would not be . called on or 
expected to say anything at all on this occasion. But believing that 
there i8 a misunderstanding as to the object of this convention by 
some who are here and believing that there is a mistaken· idea as 
to the motives of some persons who are here, perhaps it would be 
proper for me to make a few remarks. It appears that there are some 
here who are of the opinion that it is the intention of the Oklahoma 
Boomers or of some persons who are located in the southern part 
of the state of Kansas, to come here and manipulate matters in the 
convention to their personal interests alone. And I desire now, if 
it is within my power, to convince the people here that such is not 
the case. I am not here as a representative of the Oklahoma 
Boomers alone. I was not sent here by the organization known as 
the Oklahoma Colony but I was sent here as a delegate at large, one 
of five that was elected at a convention held at Arkansas City on the 
3rd, from a convention representing forty or fifty of the leading 
towns of Southern Kansas who united in sending delegates here to 
participate in this matter. Therefore, I say I do not represent alone 
the views of the Oklahoma Boomers, but the people of the entire 
southern part of the state and the people of the entire southwestern 
states. 

"Now, I see that our friend awhile ago has a mistaken idea as 
to what is contained in the Oklahoma Bill now before Congress, at 
least I believe he has. The speaker before him had spoken of the 
opening of the Oklahoma country. He seemed to think their view 
is that only that portion known as Oklahoma is to be opened. I 
want to say this with reference to the position taken by the 
Oklahoma Colony that was organized in 1880. It was organized for 
the purpose of making settlements on what is known as Oklahoma, 
a portion of the unoccupied lands situated in the center of the Indian 
territory, originally belonging to the Creek and Seminole Indians but 
has always been unoccupied by the Indians and has never been set 
apart for the Indian occupancy since the treaties of 1866 between 
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the United States and the Creek and Seminole Indians. Our organi­
zation, or the originators of it, were of the opinion that the land 
being the property of the United States surveyed in sections and 
quarter section and that the land laws applied to all the land belong­
ing to the U. S. They believed that they had a right to settle there 
under the land laws without any additional legislation. On that 
theory, we did make settlements many times but the past and 
present administrations have held an opinion different from what 
we did with reference to this question. While there is no difference 
in opinion as to the ownership of the land, all agreeing that it be­
longs to the Government, the present administrations felt that they 
were not justified in permitting settlement there until there is some 
additional legislation declaring it a part of the public domain and 
providing a way for land entries. 

"Our organization has been defeated in perfecting settlement 
there, and for the past two years or more, it has been the object of 
the organization to secure the proper legislation for the opening of 
the country and from that time to this, I want to say that there has 
not been an effort on the part of the Colony as a Colony to effect a 
settlement there. That is a forcible invasion, as you might say, 
hut we directed our efforts in securing legislation. The bill we have 
prepared and which was introduced there for the organization of 
the territory, known as the territory of Oklahoma, included the 
entire Indian territory within its boundaries and the public land 
strip. We met with a great deal of opposition sufficient to defeat the 
passage of the bill during the 49th congress. 

"Experience taught our friends that it would be wise, perhaps 
to change the boundaries of the territory and the bill that was 
presented by our friends at this session of Congress for the organi­
zation of the territory only included about twenty five million acres 
of land. What has generally been known as Oklahoma is a tract of 
land situated in the center of the Indian territory containing a little 
less than two million acres as shown by the red portion of this map. 
(Map held in hand) 

i 
''The bill now pending before congress for the organization of 

the territory of Oklahoma, comprises all of that portion of the Indian 
territory lying west of that occupied by the five civilized tribes, 
beginning at the northeast corner of the Osage reservation, running 
south to the Chickasaw reservation, thence west to the western 
boundary point, including all except that occupied by the Creeks, 
Choctaws, Chickasaws, Seminoles and Cherokees. That is what the 
gentlemen spoke of her and all these gentlemen have spoken as being 
in favor of it. Now, I am in favor, as the gentleman says, of the 
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opening of the entire territory. I have favored it all of the time. 
That is what the Oklahoma Boomers have been in favor of but we 
favor now the Springer Bill for the reason that we will meet with 
less opposition. The five civilized tribes cannot well object to the 
passage of that bill. They are not being included within its 
boundaries. There are a great many of these men who oppose this 
bill believing that the right and title to the land occupied by these 
tribes should not be interfered with, that these five should not be 
included. For that reason, the boundaries have been changed so that 
it includes the land that I have stated. 

"Now, I think I can say for the people of southern. Kansas and 
the Oklahoma Boomers that we are in favor of the passage of that 
bill because we think it the strongest bill that can possibly be pre­
sented. If we can secure any legislation, we can secure that and if 
that is successful, it is only a question of time in my opionion, until 
the entire Indian territory will be opened. 

"I hope before this convention adjourns that such action will 
be taken as will impress upon the members (of Congress) from this 
western and southwestern country that we are terribly in earnest in 
reference to this matter. That we want speedy legislation, that 
which is broad and comprehensive and that we do not want to rob 
the Indians of any rights. We do not want to be put off with any 
side show business like the annexation of the public land strip to 
the State of Kansas sometime in the future. I hope there will be 
an expression here today to the effect that we demand legislation, 
anyhow that covers as much as that outlined in the Springer Bill. 

"Thanking you gentlemen for your attention, I give way." 

From 1883 to 1889, William Couch gave virtually all of his time 
to the Oklahoma cause and visits at home were very brief. He was 
attending meetings, making invasions into Okla. or lobbying in 
Congress ..•• 

In the summer of 1886, Wm. Couch, his brothers and father, 
M. H. Couch, known as, Couch and Sons, had secured a contract 
with the Santa Fe railway for the construction of grade for their 
new line that was building through from Arkansas City, Kansas 
to Gainsville, Texas. In preparation for this work, Wm. Couch 

, planned a trip into the Oklahoma country to contact persons who 
would contract to put up prairie hay to be fed to the teams during 
construction the following winter .... 

One afternoon while camping at the place where Payne had 
made his first settlement, Mrs. Couch was interrupted in her pre­
parations for the evening meal by the arrival of a detachment of 
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U. S. troops who inquired the identity of the intruder. She told 
them who she was and that her husband had ridden over to inspect 
the place where the Santa Fe railroad survey crossed the North 
Canadian and that he would return soon. 

Arriving back at camp, Wm. Couch informed the officer that 
he was in Oklahoma on a business mission and had just brought 
Mrs. Couch along to see the country, and that they planned no 
settlement .••• 

Not withstanding this explanation, William and Cynthia Couch 
were taken to Fort Reno and placed in a tent under guard where 
they were held as prisoners for four days. They were closely guarded 
by Indian scouts. Each morning at nine o'clock they were taken 
before the commandant of the post and were compelled to listen to 
his harangue and insulence, because of the inconvenience that their 
presence had caused him. On the fourth day the officer informed 
the prisoners that, "Tomorrow, I will send you to Red River." 
Whereupon Mrs. Couch, who was fully aware of the officers duty 
and the authority under which they were being held, slowly arose 
and addressing the officer said, "You surely would not exceed your 
authority like that, would you." The officer then ordered them re­
turned to their tent .... 

Mr. and Mrs. Couch asked no favors at any time from the 
officers of the United States Army nor would they permit the 
officers to "pull any rough stuff" on them as some wished to do. 
Wm. Couch was at all times willing to rest his cause with the law, 
but he was not willing to submit to the caprice of some subordinate 
officer who had so little respect for the law as to ignore its pro­
visions and set himself above the law by issuing orders contrary 
to its plain provisions ..•. 

On the fifth morning of their confinement, they were brought 
in before the commandant who ordered their removal to the Kansas 
line. This was accomplished without incident .... 

In Washington, the Springer Bill, which Couch and Clarke had 
kept alive for three years, finally passed the House by an "aye and 
nay" vote with a majority of 46, but was defeated in the Senate. 

Since the Springer Bill providing for the establishment of a 
Territorial Government had met with defeat, it was decided now 
to try to get the Unassigned Lands opened to settlement, disre­
garding the Territorial Governmental phase. They hastily drew 
an amendment to the Indian appropriation Bill which authorized 
the President to provide for the opening of these lands and to issue 
a proclamation opening the same for settlement. This bill passed 
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Congress and became a law when signed by President Cleveland 
March 2, 1889. 

The committee on territories and members of congress who had 
the bill in charge at the time of its passage, presumed that Oklahoma 
would be opened at once, so they drafted a proclamation for its 
immediate opening and presented it for the President's signature. 

President Cleveland neglected to sign this and left the matter 
of setting the date and rules for the opening to President Harrison, 
who was inaugurated two days later on March 4, 1889. President 
Harrison took no action in this matter until March 21, when he 
issued the proclamation for opening Oklahoma at tyvelve o'clock 
high noon, April 22, 1889 .••• 

With the issuance of the proclamation opening Oklahoma, thou­
sands of people began to move toward the Oklahoma border to be 
ready for the dash that was to take place at the opening hour. 

The Santa Fe railway, in anticipation of the rush of business 
sure to come with the opening, set about to enlarge their railway 
yards and to extend their side tracks at each station. 

M. H. Couch & Sons secured a contract for the construction 
of siding grading at Oklahoma Station (Oklahoma City). When the 
opening hour arrived at noon April 22nd work having been com­
pleted, the Couches and employees, from their camp a short distance 
south of the depot, proceeded to make settlement on homesteads 
around-about. 

Wm. Couch mounted his pony "Injun" and made the dash in 
record time and drove his stake on the S. W. ¼ of 33 twp. 12 R. 
3 W, which is to say the land situated between Walker Street and 
Wes tern A venue, and Reno and Fourth Street north. This act 
announced to all that this was his choice for a homestead. A tent 
was erected and his eldest son, Ira, then seventeen years of age, 
with a rod plow began to break sod on the homestead. Soon there 
were other settlers on this tract and finally the following persons 
laid claim to this homestead. Wm. L. Couch, Robert -W. Higgins, 
John Dawson, J. C. Adams, Mrs. Sarah Wayneck, Mr. Morgan, 
Mr. Lewis and the West Oklahoma Townsite Company. J.C. Adams 
was the first to arrive at the land office located at Guthrie and se­
cured the filing on the land. The others set up their claims in the 
form of a contest. 

Under the homestead law, the settler could be absent from the 
homestead for six months, after settlement, but must at that time 
have returned to the land, plowed some land, erected a house and 
brought his family in, thus establishing his residence. During this 
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six month period, Wm. L. Couch lived in Oklahoma City and was 
elected its first mayor May 1, 1889. Couch received seven hundred 
sixty six votes; James A. Murry three hundred twenty-eight, and 
Ben S. Miller, two hundred sixty-six. The term of office was to be 
one year .... 

At the close of the six-month period, he resigned as mayor and 
after having erected a one and one-half story four-room house on 
the homestead, moved his family, (which now consisted of wife, 
three sons and two daughters Mary Irene, named after both grand· 
mothers having been born May 17, 1888,) in on October 20, 1889. 
No sooner than the family were settled, Wm. L. Couch was off for 
Washington D. C. with a memorial to Congress, seeking the estab­
lishment of Territorial Government. Except for short visits home, 
he remained in Washington lobbying for the Territorial cause until 
about April 1, 1890, at which time he returned home. He felt most 
keenly the necessity of Territorial Government and for that reason 
neglected his own personal interests and "stayed right in there" 
until he was assured of the passage of the Territorial Bill and of a 
stable government. This bill, the enabling act was passed, and 
became effective May 2nd 1890. 

To provide income and employment for the family during his 
absence in Washington, William L. Couch had secured a contract 
with the Oklahoma Water Power Co. for the construction of that 
portion of the canal from Reno Ave. and Ollie Streets extending in 
a south easternly direction to Shartel Street and the Frisco tracks 
and thence east to the Canadian River, a total distance of about one 
and one-half miles. This canal was constructed by M. H. Couch 
and Sons during the winter of 1889-90 and proved a source of much 
needed cash for the homesteaders during the first winter. 

While Wm. L. Couch was in Washington, J. C. Adams, one of 
the contestants, persisted in pasturing his horses on Couch's wheat 
field. On two occasions, gun play was made by Adams when Couch's 
young sons were driving the Adams horses from the Couch field. 
On one of these occasions Adams shot and killed the Couch shep• 
pard dog that was chasing the horses. At another time Adams 
attack the fourteen year old son, Albert Couch, with_ a large club, 
the boy having escaped only because he rode a faster horse than 
his assailant. 

Upon his return from Washington, to avert further trouble, 
Couch began at once to fence the wheat field against Adam's horses. 
This angered Adams, who with an axe chopped down many of the 
fence posts on the afternoon of April 3, 1890. The following day, 
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Wm. L. Couch with his eighteen year old son, Ira, returned to re­
place the posts. While they were resetting the last post at a point 
which is now the south-east corner of Grand and Western, J. C. 
Adams approached with a large club in hand and told Couch that 
if he did not leave at once that he would be killed. Couch sensing 
trouble, had previously counselled his son Ira, who was armed, that 
no matter what the provocation not to shoot Adams. As Adams 
advanced with raised club, Couch unafraid dodged. the blow and 
grappled with his assailant taking the club from him. Adams then 
reached for his "38" Smith & Wesson. Couch beat him to "the 
draw" and commanded Adams to throw his pistol away, which he 
did reluctantly. Adams declaring he would get his Winchester and 
kill both Couch and Son, Ira, started for his house some two hun­
dred yards distant, (where the Ford plant is now located.) _ 

Inasmuch as the last post had been reset and it was nearly 
dinner time, to avoid further trouble, if possible, Couch and his son 
started south toward their home, which was located two hundred 
yards south and one half mile east, at the corner of Reno and Walker. 
They had gone only a short distance when Adams came out of his 
house and began shooting. Couch and Son, Ira, both returned the 
fire. Mrs. Adams now came outside and Adams used her as a shield. 
Couch and his son continued toward home, when they had reached 
a point near where Shartel Street now crosses Reno A venue, Adams 
from a vantage point, fired two more shots, one of these striking 
Couch in the left knee joint. Some friends who were coming up the 
road put Couch on their horse and took him home. 

Dr. W. L. Benepe and Dr. F. S. Dewey surgeon of the U. S. 
Military camp were immediately called and later other doctors were 
called in consultation. Everything was done that medical skill could 
do but blood poisoning had set in and he died Apri!_~l_: .. , 

He had no reproach for his destroyer. While fully conscious, 
two days before his death, realizing that the end was near, he sent 
for all of the family to come in and said, "I want you all to come 
around where I can see your faces, I have something to tell you. 
We have met today, it may be for the last time. I am perfectly 
willing to go. I have no fear at all. We come and we go; it is nothing 
new. I will have to go and leave you but I am not afraid. Talk 
about death being a dreadful thing. It is pleasant when you have 
all of your friends about you with bright and cheerful faces. I am 
fully prepared for the plunge and am willing to await the results 
fearlessly. Be kind, say loving, cheerful words one to another." 
Then taking each member of the family by the hand in a most af­
fectionate manner, he said parting words to each. To all he said, 
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"If I have ever done anything to hurt your feelings, I want to be 
forgiven." Clasping the hand of his wife he said, "How long have 
we been married?" 

"Nineteen years" was the responce. His answer was, "Not an 
unkind word has ever passed between us." 

One of his characteristics was well illustrated when at the end 
of his antimortem statement taken on Saturday, without a change 
of .expression or a quiver in his voice and with cool deliberation he 
said, "I make this statement in view of impending death, which I 
consider very near." 

He died at 2:50 A.M. on Monday April 21, 1890. He was thirty­
nine years seven months old at the time of his death at his home 
on the homestead, which is now 515 W. Reno Avenue, Oklahoma 
City, Oklahoma. 

The funeral was conducted in the First Methodist Church at 
Fourth and Robinson at 2 P.M. April 22, 1890, just one year to a 
day after the opening of the Oklahoma Country, Rev. G. A. Murry, 
pastor officiating. He was assisted by Rev. Stephen Brink, pastor 
of the M. E. Church at Douglass, Kansas. At Wm. Couch's request, 
the text used for the sermon was Job 19, 25-27, "For I know that 
my redeemer liveth and that He shall stand at the latter day upon 
the earth and though after my skin worms destroy this body, yet 
in my flesh shall I see God." 

After the service, the body was removed from the church to 
the street, where the Hon. Sidney Clarke delivered an address to 
the large overflow who could not get into the church. Three mounted 
buglers from the military camp on the hill sounding the funeral 
dirge at intervales proceeded the procession to the final resting place. 

There was no official cemetery as yet and at his request, he was 
buried on the homestead at what is now the north side of Reno 
A venue at Dewey Street. His body was later, on April 4, 1893 dis­
intered and laid in the Fairlawn Cemetery in lot No. 9, block No. 7. 
This became the family lot where now rest his wife, Cynthia, his 
father, mother, brothers and other members of the family. 
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